UNI TED STATES COURT OF APPEALS
For the Fifth Crcuit

No. 93-8894

UNI TED STATES OF AMERI CA,
Pl ai ntiff-Appell ee-

Cr oss- Appel | ant ,
Cr oss- Appel | ee,

VERSUS
M KE MCELLER and

PETER THOVAS MCRAE,

Def endant s- Appel | ant s-
Cr oss- Appel | ees,

and BILLIE B. QUI CKSALL

Def endant - Cr oss- Appel | ee
Cr oss- Appel | ant .

Appeal fromthe United States District Court
For the Western District of Texas
April &8, 1990

Bef ore POLI TZ, Chief Judge, H LL!, and DeMOSS.
DeMoss, Circuit Judge:

Def endants M ke Moel l er, Peter McRae and Billie Quicksall were
convicted on nultiple counts of bribery, msapplication of state
funds, and a single count of conspiracy to conmt those unlaw ul
acts. Def endants appeal their convictions, challenging the

sufficiency of the evidence, the adm ssion of certain evidence, and

! Crcuit Judge of the Eleventh Circuit, sitting by
desi gnati on.



the prosecution's exercise of perenptory strikes against mnority
jurors. The governnent cross-appeals, challenging the district
court's application of the sentencing guidelines. W affirmthe
district court on the issues raised by the defendants' appeal. W
affirmin part, and reverse and remand in part, on the points
rai sed by the governnent's cross-appeal.
| . BACKGROUND

Thi s appeal concerns all egations of deep-rooted corruption in
the Texas Departnent of Agriculture (TDA) and the Texas Federa
| nspection Service (TFIS). Defendants Mke Moeller, Peter MRae
and Billie Quicksall are all former officials of those Texas
agenci es. The governnent charged that Meller, McRae and Qui cksal
m sused their positions with TDA and TFI S by aut hori zi ng the award
of publicly-funded sham contracts to political consultants Robert
Boyd and Russell Koontz.? This allegation forns the heart of the
counts alleging that the defendants m sapplied state agency funds.
18 U.S.C. §666(a)(1)(A) (prohibiting intentional m sapplication of
state funds by state officials). The governnment further charged
that the defendants either (1) awarded the sham contracts to Boyd
and Koontz to conpensate Boyd and Koontz for raising politica
contributions to support the political canpaigns of Meller, and
then | ater, Texas Conmm ssioner of Agriculture Ji mH ghtower, or (2)
that the canpaigning and resulting contributions were a kickback

for the illicit contracts. This allegation forns the heart of the

2Boyd and Koontz were indicted along with Meller, MRae and
Qui cksall, but their cases were severed prior to trial



bri bery counts. 18 U S.C 8§ 666(a)(1)(B) (prohibiting state
officials from accepting or agreeing to accept anything of value
wth the intent to be rewarded or influenced in connection with any
state agency transaction or series of transactions).?

From 1985 until 1990 defendant Moeller was the second in
command at TDA, serving as deputy comm ssioner under then
Commi ssi oner of Agriculture Ji mH ghtower. Defendant McRae wor ked
closely with Meller, holding positions as Meller's special
assistant at TDA, and as the associate director of the TFIS. 4
Def endant Quicksall also worked for Moeller, holding various
positions at both TDA and TFI S.

I n the summer of 1987, defendant M ke Mdeller decided to "test
the waters" to determ ne whether he could successfully nount a
canpaign to replace then Texas Conm ssioner of Agriculture Jim
H ghtower, who was at that tine considering a canpaign for a
congressional seat. Mdeller, MRae, Quicksall, and several other
TDA or TFI'S officials, met on several occasions at an Austin
restaurant for the purpose of planning a strategy. One approach

di scussed was the formation of a political action conmttee (PAC)

Both the misapplication statute, 18 U S.C. 8§ 666(a)(1)(A)),
and the bribery statute, 18 U. S.C. 8§ 666(a)(1)(B), require that the
funds m sapplied or the series of transactions affected be val ued
at nore than $5,000, and that the state agency involved receive
nore than $10,000 in federal funds in any one year. None of the
parties dispute that the prerequisites for application of 8§ 666
have been net in this case. Sone of these issues were decided in
the previous appeal of this case. United States v. Meller, 987
F.2d 1134 (5th Cr. 1993).

“TFI S was created by cooperative agreenent between the United
States Departnent of Agriculture and TDA.
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to enhance Moell er's nane recognition. In this regard, Meller net
wi th Harold Bob Bennett in August 1987. Bennett testified that the
idea of a PAC to support Meller's canpaign was "definitely a
concept at that tine."

Shortly thereafter, a PAC dubbed Buil ding Texas Agriculture
(BTA or BTA PAC) was fornmed. Miltiple witnesses testified that the
purpose of the PAC was to gather a war chest for Meller's
potential canpaign. BTA literature listed Meller as the PAC s
founder. MRae opened the BTA bank accounts, made deposits, and
was aut hori zed to spend the PAC funds. Moeller's secretary, Nelda
Trevino, kept the checks and financial records of BTA Moel | er
hi nsel f conceded at trial that the BTA PAC becane a vehicle for
rei mbursing his political expenses.

Moel | er, McRae and Quicksall were all famliar with political
consul tants Robert Boyd and Russell Koontz. Boyd and Koontz, both
former TDA officials, have been involved in Texas agricul ture, and
particularly in the politics of Texas agriculture, for severa
decades. Beginning in the fall of 1987, Boyd and Koontz becane
actively involved in soliciting contributions to the BTA PAC for
Moel l er' s benefit. Boyd's address was listed as the BTA PAC s
mai | i ng address. In June 1988, the sane parties fornmed a non-
profit corporation, the Building Texas Agricul ture Educati on Fund,
whi ch was al so i ntended to enhance Moel ler's nanme recognition, and
t hey began soliciting contributions for that organization as well.
Mul tiple donors testified that they considered contributions to

either the PAC or the education fund to be political contributions



to Moeller's potential canpaign. Funds contributed to the two BTA
funds were sonetines conm ngl ed.

Bet ween August 1987 and May 1990, Moel |l er, McRae and Qui cksal |
al so used their positions at TDA or TFIS to issue, approve or
adm nister a series of consulting contracts in favor of Boyd and
Koontz. Those contracts totalled in excess of $170,000. Miltiple
W t nesses provided credible testinony that the work required by
those contracts was either redundant or unnecessary, that the work
was never perforned, or that the contracts required consultation on
matters beyond the jurisdiction of the contracting agency. The
def endants thensel ves testified only that the work perfornmed under
the contracts i nvol ved oral discussions about the subject matter of
the particular contract, and visits with TDA and TFI S regul at ed
busi nesses, and banks in which TFI S proposed to deposit funds.

There i s no di spute that Boyd and Koontz were actively engaged
infurthering Meller's canpaign. The record contai ns overwhel m ng
evidence that the primary purpose of the trips taken by Boyd and
Koontz was political. Thr oughout 1988, Quicksall, wth the
know edge of Moeller and MRae, visited TDA and TFIS regul ated
busi nesses acconpani ed by Boyd, and on sone occasions by Koontz.
Boyd and Koontz financed sone of those trips with agency funds
furni shed under their TDA and TFI S consulting contracts. Nunerous
W t nesses testified that Quicksall usually began these visits with
agency business, but that the tal k quickly turned to the subject of
political contributions. Canpai gn contributions were simlarly

elicited from TDA and TFI' S enpl oyees, and officers of banking



institutions in which TFI'S proposed to deposit funds. Mul tiple
donors testified that they felt conpelled to chose between naking
a political contribution and receiving unfavorabl e treatnment by TDA
or TFIS.

In January 1989, Jim H ghtower announced that he would not
seek national office, and that he would instead seek another term
as Texas Conmm ssioner of Agriculture. From January 1990 until at
| east May 1990, while Boyd and Koontz were still operating under
contracts awarded or adm nistered by the defendants in this case,
Boyd and Koontz solicited canpaign contributions for Hi ghtower's
canpaign using simlar tactics.

Def endant M ke Moeller was convicted on one count of
m sapplication of state funds, in violation of 18 US C 8§
666(a) (1) (A, and five counts of bribery, inviolation of 18 U S. C
8§ 666(a)(1)(B). Defendant Peter MRae was convicted on one count
of msapplication of state funds, in violation of 18 U S C 8§
666(a)(1) (A, and three counts of bribery, in violation of 18
US C 8§8666(a)(1l)(B). Defendant Billie Quicksall was convicted on
one count of msapplication of state funds, in violation of 18
US C 8 666(a)(1)(A), and two counts of bribery, in violation of
18 U.S.C. §666(a)(1)(B). Al three defendants were al so convicted
on a single count of conspiracy to commt those offenses, in

violation of 18 U.S.C. § 371.



1. DEFENDANTS APPEAL

A, Sufficiency

Defendants first argue that the evidence was insufficient to
support their convictions. We di sagree. The record contains
overwhel m ng evi dence that the consulting contracts issued to Boyd
and Koontz were shamcontracts, and that little work was perforned
inreturn for the state funds paid by TDA and TFIS. TDA and TFI S
enpl oyees testified that they never consulted with either Boyd or
Koontz, although the subject matter of the contracts concerned
agency responsibilities wthin their area. Oher contracts were
i ssued for consultation on areas outside the jurisdiction of the
contracting agency. Several contracts were issued for the single,
non-specific purpose of "consulting on the joint operating
agreenent"” between TDA and TFI S No witten product was ever
produced in exchange for the state funds paid Boyd and Koontz,
whi ch in the aggregate exceeded $170,000. Even the defendants do
not identify any work conpl eted under the contracts, except visits
to regul ated businesses and service providers, and advice given
orally to the defendants thenselves. The sham nature of the
contracts alone is sufficient to support Moeller's conviction on
count two for msapplication of TDA funds, and MRae's and
Quicksall's conviction on count five for msapplication of TFIS
funds. 18 U . S.C. 8§ 666(a)(1)(A).

The heart of the defendants' sufficiency challenge is that the
governnent failed to denonstrate any connection between the

i ssuance of the consulting contracts in Boyd' s and Koontz' favor,



and their independent canpai gning work on behalf of Meller. That
connection is required to denonstrate both the defendants
agreenent to violate the law on the conspiracy count, and the
defendants' intent to be influenced or rewarded in connection with
the contracts, on the bribery counts. 18 U S.C. § 371; 18 U S. C
8§ 666(a)(1)(B). Again, we disagree on this sufficiency challenge.
The record adequately supports the required i nference that the
essential purpose of the shamcontracts was to conpensate Boyd and
Koontz for raising political contributions to benefit Meller, and
| ater Hightower. Boyd and Koontz traveled with Quicksall to visit
TDA and TFI S regul at ed busi nesses on governnent tine, using funds
made available by the consulting contracts, for the purpose of
soliciting canpaign contributions. Moreover, the requests for
canpai gn contributions were not made casually or in a manner that
was incidental to the conduct of agency business. Quicksall, who
was travelling in his capacity as an agency official, was at | east
once assi gned the task of hol di ng the noney col |l ected, and recorded
contributions in the sane small | edger used for agency business.
Qui cksall, who knew that Boyd and Koontz were asking $1,000 from

each "target," was al so aware that soliciting contributions in the
context of agency business raised serious |egal and ethical
guestions under Texas |aw. I ndeed, Quicksall attenpted to
anti ci pate when the request for noney was com ng, and would try to
extricate hinself from the room before the request was made.

Qui cksall was not always successful in this effort, and nunerous



representatives fromregulated entities testified that they felt
intimdated or coerced into contributing to Meller's canpaign.

Nor does the record support the defendants' argunent that they
were either unaware of, or uninfluenced by, the relationship
between the sham contracts and Boyd's and Koontz's canpaign
solicitations. Two agency officials testified that Quicksall, who
was obviously aware of the canpaigning, told them on different
occasions that the consulting contracts were unnecessary to agency
busi ness. However, one of those individuals testified that
Qui cksall had acknow edged that the contracts were politically
nmotivated, and that he had to "deal with politics" as a part of his
job with the agency.

McRae was heavily involved in both the adm nistration of the
consulting contracts, and in the nmanagenent of funds received by
BTA. MRae instructed other agency officials to approve invoices
submtted by Boyd and Koontz w thout instructing them on the
est abl i shed procedure for being sure the work was perfornmed. The
record al so denonstrates that McRae routinely gave information to
substantiate the paynent of these invoices "off the top of his
head, " w thout resort to any supporting docunentation. The record
al so contai ns nunerous exhibits docunenting MRae's control over
BTA funds. MRae withdrew nore than $23,000 in cash fromthe BTA
account. Although the purpose of those withdrawals could not be
expl ai ned by defendant Meller (MRae did not testify), he opined
that some of the noney was paid to MRae personally as a

"managenent fee."



Moel ler's and MRae's knowl edge may also be inferred from
ci rcunst ances surroundi ng the establ i shnment of the PAC, nmai nt enance
of the accounts used to hold canpai gn contri butions, and testinony
i ndi cating that they probably directed, and were at | east aware of,
Quicksall's travels with Boyd and Koontz. Quicksall testifiedthat
he acted on instructions fromMoeller and McRae. MRae handl ed t he
bank accounts into which BTA funds were deposited. Moel l er's
secretary Nel da Trevi no kept records of the political contributions
recei ved by BTA Al t hough Trevino testified that she kept the
records at hone, at |east one TDA official testified that he had
seen her witing BTA checks at her desk.

Moel | er argues separately that he was unaware that Boyd and
Koont z were engaged in political fundraising for his benefit at the
sane tinme they were being paid under TDA and TFI'S consulting
contracts. Moeller's own associ ate deputy comm ssioner testified
at trial that he personally brought to Moeller's attention the fact
that Boyd and Koontz were fundraising at the sane tine that they
were acting under TDA and TFI S consulting contracts, and that such
conduct mght well be considered inappropriate. Tom Fordyce,
anot her Moel |l er assistant, testified that Boyd and Koontz told him
they were travelling to visit TDA and TFI S regul at ed busi nesses to
rai se political canpaign funds for Moeller. Moeller hinself wote
t hank you notes for contributions received by BTA. Mreover, Boyd
and Koontz frequently visited TDA, and Moeller's office in
particular, during the relevant tine period. Moeller's argunent

t hat he was unaware that consultants on inportant agency matters
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who frequently visited his offices, were using his nane, his
enpl oyees, and his secretary to manage canpaign funds for his
benefit, is neither credible nor supported by the record.

All  three defendants nmake additional <challenges to the
sufficiency of the evidence based on the tenporal relationship
bet ween i ndi vi dual consulting contracts and the politica
solicitations of Boyd and Koontz. In one such exanple, the
def endants claimthat the August 1987 consulting contract, which
was the subject of Meller's and MRae's bribery conviction on
count three and al so supported Moeller's m sapplication conviction
on count two, could not have been issued for a political purpose
because no fundraising took place until Jlate that year when
H ght ower announced he woul d not seek reel ection. We di sagree.
That prem se i gnores substantial record evi dence denonstrating t hat
all three defendants and Boyd were either aware that a PAC woul d be
formed or participated in maintaining the funds deposited in BTA
accounts. It alsoignores the close tenporal proximty between the
initial consulting contracts and the tinme that the BTA PAC was
est abl i shed. In a simlar argunent, Quicksall challenges his
convictions prem sed upon a February 1988 consulting contract
because no fundraising was perfornmed until sumrer 1988. Thi s
argunent is |ikew se unpersuasive. Al t hough the consulting
contracts were of necessity signed on a given date, nmany of those
contracts ran for a nunber of nonths, including nonths in which
fundrai si ng was bei ng perfornmed. |ndeed, the August 1987 contract

was signed only three days before perfornmance under that contract,
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whi ch purportedly ran fromJuly 1, 1987 through August 31, 1987,
was to have been conpl et ed.

The record anply supports the jury's conclusion that the
def endants were acting on their agreenent to exchange state funds
for Boyd's and Koontz' political efforts. Viewing the facts in a
light nost favorable to the jury's verdict, a reasonable trier of
fact could have found all of the essential elenents required to

convi ct on each of the individual defendants' counts of conviction.

United States v. McCord, 33 F.3d 1434, 1439 (5th Gr. 1994), cert.
denied sub nom 115 S. C. 2558 (1995).

B. Evidentiary issues

Def endants contend that the district court's adm ssion of
evidence relating to Boyd's and Koontz' fundraising for Hi ghtower
was erroneous because the evidence denonstrated two distinct
epi sodes of fundraising, rather than a single conspiracy as al |l eged
inthe indictnent. Defendants argue they were unfairly prejudiced
because the jury was poisoned by evidence that Boyd and Koontz
engaged in strong-armtactics on behalf of H ghtower. Ironically,
t he defendants support this argunent with evidence that Boyd and
Koontz used tactics very simlar to those enployed on behal f of
Moel | er. W doubt the jury gave nmuch consideration to the smal
anount of evidence relating to the H ghtower fundraising. |ndeed,
Qui cksall was acquitted on the only two counts charging bribery in
relation to the Hi ghtower fundraising. Fed. R Cv. P. 103(a);
United States v. Skipper, 74 F.3d 608, 612 (5th Cr. 1996) (error

12



may not be predicated upon a ruling admtting evidence unless a
substantial right of the party is affected).

More inportantly, all three defendants were continuously
i nvol ved in the adm nistration of consulting contracts in favor of
Boyd and Koont z during the period when those gentl enen were rai sing
funds for Hi ghtower. The Mbeller fundraising and the H ghtower
fundraising served the sane purpose, that of Kkeeping agency
i ncunbents firmy entrenched. Because the co-conspirators, the
pur pose, and the nethods enployed for the Meller fundraising and
the H ghtower fundraising were virtually identical, we have no
trouble concluding that the evidence denonstrated a single

conspiracy. See United States v. DeVarona, 872 F.2d 114, 118 (5th

Cr. 1989) (factors considered in determ ning whether a single
conspiracy was proven include the existence of a common goal or
purpose, the nature of +the schene, and whether there are
over | appi ng participants). The district court did not abuse its
discretion by admtting evidence relating to the Hightower
f undr ai si ng. Ski pper, 74 F.3d at 612 (evidentiary errors are
reversed for abuse of discretion).

Defendants also argue that the district court inproperly
admtted evidence of extrinsic bad acts wthout making the

evidentiary findings required by United States v. Beechum 582 F. 2d

898 (5th Cir. 1978) (en banc), cert. denied, 99 S. . 1244 (1979).

See Fed. R Cv. P. 404(b). One such piece of evidence concerned
the existence of a consulting contract issued to TDA genera

counsel Jesse Oiver, who was called to testify at trial by the
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defense. The district court allowed the prosecution to question
Adiver regarding the existence of the contract, but granted the
def endants' Rul e 404(b) objection by refusing to all ow any evi dence
that the contract was i nproper. Def endants al so conpl ai n about
adm ssion of evidence (1) showing the existence of another
consulting contract issued by defendant MRae to gain political
favor with a prom nent individual, and (2) describing an incident
in which Boyd and Koontz pressured a TDA enployee to solicit a
political contribution from the enployee's father. As to these
last two itenms of evidence, the defendants did not mnake any
cont enpor aneous obj ection on Rule 404(b) grounds. The district
court did, however, address the character of the challenged
evidence inits ruling on the defendants' pretrial notion for Rule
404(b) notice. The district court found, and we agree, that the
chal | enged evi dence was sinply further direct evidence relating to

uni ndicted acts of the conspiracy. See United States v. Al enan,

592 F.2d 881, 885 (5th Cr. 1979) (Rule 404(b) principles are
"I napplicable when sone offenses commtted in a single crimna
epi sode becone " other acts' because the defendant is indicted for
less than all of his actions."). Because the challenged evi dence
was not extrinsic to the conspiracy, the district court's adm ssion
of that evidence was not error.
3. Batson

Def endants contend that the district court erred by overruling
their Batson challenge to the prosecution's perenptory strike of

three mnority jurors -- two Hispanic and one African-Anerican
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See Batson v. Kentucky, 106 S. C. 1712 (1986). At trial, the

prosecution articulated adequate race-neutral reasons for the
perenptory strikes. The prosecution clained at trial that the
| ength and conplexity of the case required jurors with at |east a
hi gh school education. That policy was exerci sed across the board
and resulted in the exclusion of both mnority and non-mnority
panel nenbers. O the three excluded mnority jurors, two had
about nine years of formal education, and the other had no fornma
educati on. Addi tional reasons were offered as to two of the
jurors. The panel nenber with no fornmal education seened to be
having difficulty with the questions and was unable to conpetently
fill out the juror questionnaire. One of the remaining jurors al so
admtted that he had lied on tax forns.

We have previously recognized that the education of a panel

menber may be considered in the appropriate case. See ULnited

States v. H nojosa, 958 F.2d 624, 632 (5th Cr. 1992) ("a trial

judge does not abuse his discretion by allowing exclusion of a
veni reman by perenptory strikes if that venireman's education is
insufficient when taking into account the l|egal issues to be
presented"). Def endants argue that Batson jurisprudence shoul d
recogni ze di sparate educati on as a conti nui ng badge of slavery. W
do not exclude the possibility that their argunent may have nerit
in another case. In this case, however, the conplex nature of the
conspiracy, and the nunber of interconnected offenses alleged,
adequately support the district court's determnation that the

prosecution articulated adequate race-neutral reasons for the
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perenptory strikes. See Hinojosa, 958 F.2d at 631-32 (a trial

judge's decision on a Batson issue is essentially one of
credibility, which is entitled to great deference).
[11. GOVERNVENT' S CROSS- APPEAL - SENTENCI NG

Al three defendants were sentenced according to an adjusted
offense level of 18 and a crimnal history category of |, which
specifies an applicable guideline range of 27 to 33 nonths.
Def endant Meller was sentenced to 27 nonths, the mninmmwthin
the applicable range, and was fined $ 56, 000. Def endant MRae
i kewi se received the m ni num sentence of 27 nonths and was fi ned
$15, 000. Def endant Quicksall's sentence was reduced by the
district court's finding of duress pursuant to U S.S.G 8§ 5K2.12.
Qui cksall was sentenced to 12 nonths in prison and a fine of
$8, 000.

The district court calculated the offense | evel by assigning
a base offense level of 8 a level falling between the two
potentially applicable published guidelines, US S G § 2C 1.1
covering bribery and U S.S.G § 2Cl.2 covering gratuities. The
district court then adjusted the base offense |level upward by 2
| evel s because the offense involved nore than one transaction
(US.S.G § 2CL.1(b)(2)(A) or 8 2Cl1.2(b)(2)(A)), and upward 8
| evel s based on the involvenent in the offense of a high-Ievel
official (US.S.G § 2Cl.1(b)(2)(B) or § 2Cl.2(b)(2)(B)).

Def endants Moel | er and McRae noved for and were granted a stay

of puni shnent pendi ng appeal. Defendant Quicksall surrendered to
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prison authorities in Decenber 1993, and conpleted his 12 nonth
sentence in 1994.

On cross-appeal, the governnent contests the district court's
application of the 1993 sentencing quidelines. See U S . S.G 8
1B1. 11. Specifically, the governnent challenges the district
court's: (1) creation of a "conprom se" offense | evel between the
two potentially applicable published guidelines; (2) refusal to
adj ust Moeller's and McRae's offense | evel based on their role in
the of fense; and (3) departure downward for Quicksall on the basis
of duress.

A.  Selection of a Conprom se Quideline

At sentencing, the parties argued extensively about whether
US S G 82Cl.1 or US.S.G 8 2Cl.2 was the guideline applicable
to the conduct proven. Section 2Cl.1 covers the offering, giving,
soliciting or receiving of a bribe, and carries a base offense
| evel of 10. Section 2Cl.2 covers the offering, giving, soliciting
or receiving of a gratuity, and carries a base offense | evel of 7.
The statutory i ndex to the sentenci ng gui delines provides that both
provisions are potentially applicable to convictions under 18
U S.C. § 666(a)(1l)(B)

After struggling with the issue at |length, the district court
conprom sed by settling upon a base offense | evel of 8, reasoning
that the offense conduct was sonewhat nore cul pable than a nere
gratuity, but sonmewhat |ess cul pable than bribery. Anticipating
difficulty withits selection of a base offense | evel not specified

in a published guideline, the district stated in the alternative
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that it woul d have "departed downward" in this case because (1) the
defendants inherited a systemof corruption that was not of their
own devising; (2) the anount of noney involved was, relatively
speaki ng, not large; (3) the noney collected was not intended for
an unl awf ul purpose; and (4) the personal benefit to the individual
def endants was indirect and insignificant.

The governnent contends that the district court was w t hout
authority to create a "conprom se" base offense level. W agree.
Title 18 U.S.C. § 3553 provides that the district court nust inpose
a sentence wthin the range established by the Sentencing
Comm ssion for the applicabl e category of offense, unless the court
expressly finds aggravating or mtigating factors that are not
adequately taken into consideration by the guidelines. Wen the
statutory index lists nore than one potentially applicable
guideline, the district court is charged with choosing from anong
t he gui delines specified the one that is nost appropriate based on
t he nature of the of fense conduct. U S.S.G § 1Bl1.2, comment. n.1

US S G App. A - Statutory Index at 369; see United States V.

Beard, 913 F.2d 193, 197 (5th Cr. 1990).

While we are synpathetic to the district court's dilema, we
cannot sanction the creation of a conprom se guideline provision
nmerely because the case presents a difficult factual choice about
whi ch gui del i ne shoul d be applied. To do so would seriously erode
the determ native nature and purpose of the sentencing guidelines.

See generally, U S . S.G Pt. A (policy statenent on basi c approach

of guidelines). That premse is particularly true when, as here,
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the offense conduct is clearly contenplated by both potentially
appl i cabl e gui del i nes.

Defendants offer no authority or argunent in support of the
district court's creation of the "conprom se" base offense |evel.
| nstead, the defendants argue that the resulting sentence can be
justified, either because the district court settled on U S.S.G 8§
2C1.1 (level 10) and departed downward for the articul ated reasons,
or because the district court settled on U S.S.G 8§ 2CL.2 (level 7)
and departed upward for reasons not articulated. The governnent
makes an argunent prem sed on the alternative holding as well
asserting that the mtigating factors articulated by the district
court were inproper, or in the alternative, that the district
court's fact findings on those issues were clearly erroneous.

We wi Il not consider the district court's alternative hol di ng.
The district court's selection of an erroneous base of fense |evel
resulted in application of an erroneous guideline range. That
error cannot be cured by crafting an alternative holding which
posits the operation of a departure on a correctly calcul ated
guideline range. Nor is it clear fromthe transcript exactly which
guideline provision the district court preferred. The court's
statenent that it would have departed downward, and its
articulation of mtigating factors support the proposition that it
favored 8 2Cl.1, the bribery provision. On the other hand, other
statenents by the district court, and its selection of a base
of fense | evel closer to 7, the |l evel provided by 8§ 2Cl1.2, strongly

support the view that the court was |eaning nore towards the
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gratuity guideline. Nor will we accept the governnent's invitation
to hold that 18 U S.C. 8§ 666(a)(1)(B) bribery convictions nust be
sentenced using U S.S.G 8§ 2Cl1.1. W do not read United States v.

Santopietro, 996 F.2d 17, 20-21 (2d Gr. 1993), cert. denied, 114

S. . 921 (1994) or United States v. Mariano, 983 F.2d 1150, 1158-

60 (1st Cr. 1993) as establishing any such per se rule, and we
decline to establish that rule in our own Crcuit. The applicable
guideline in any given case is a fact-intensive determ nation to be
made by the district court.

The sentenci ng guidelines charge the district court with the
burden of sel ecting the guideline provision nost applicable to the
of fense of conviction. We decline to substitute our own nore
det ached assessnent of the extensive evidence presented by both
parties for the judgnent of the district court, particularly where
to do so woul d require that we engage i n conjecture about the basis
of the district court's alternative holding. See 18 U.S.C. § 3553
(requiring that the district court articul ate reasons for departing
fromthe applicable guideline range). Renmand for resentencing is
appropri ate. On remand, the district court nust select the
appropriate guideline from anong the potentially applicable
publ i shed gui deli nes. Once an applicable guideline range is
est abl i shed, aggravating or mtigating factors can be consi dered by
the district court and the basis for any departure, whether upward
or downward, can be articulated in accordance with 18 U S.C. 8§

3553.
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B. Refusal to Adjust for Role in the Ofense

The PSR recommended a 4 | evel adjustnent based on defendant
Moel ler's |eadership role and a 3 Ilevel adjustnent based on
def endant McRae's supervisory role in the offense. See U S. S.G 8§
3Bl1.1(a) & (D). The district court denied that adjustnent,
essentially relying upon the sane factors articulated i n support of
the district court's assignnent of a conprom se base of fense | evel :
(1) that the defendants had inherited a system of corruption; (2)
that the system of corruption was not of their own devising; (3)
that the relatively small anmount of noney invol ved was not i ntended
for an unlawful purpose; and (4) that the personal benefit to the
def endants was indirect and insignificant.

We review the district court's finding concerning Meller's

and McRae's role in the offense for clear error. United States v.

Buchanan, 70 F.3d 818, 829 (5th G r. 1995), cert. denied, 1996 W

96864 (Mar. 25, 1996). Defendant Moell er occupi ed a hi gh-ranking
position within TDA, and was the political candidate for nmuch of
the fundraising involved in the offense. MRae was his assi stant,
and worked closely with Meller in a variety of capacities.
Nonet hel ess, the record as a whol e does not support the concl usion
that Moeller and MRae either initiated the bribery schene or
participated in a nore cul pabl e manner than ot her co-conspirators,
wth the possible exception of Quicksall. The defendants'
"inheritance" of a historically corrupt and deep-rooted systemis
not immaterial. The continuance of the exact sane conduct after

Mbel | er announced he would not run for office indicates that the
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schene al | eged was not dependent upon the nmanagerial or | eadership
roles of these defendants, and depended instead |argely upon the

energy and creativity of Boyd and Koontz. See United States v.

Gadison, 8 F.3d 186, 196 (5th Gr. 1993) (listing a defendant's
i nvol venent in the planning and organi zation of the offense as a
relevant factor in determning a defendant's role in the offense).
W affirm the district court's refusal to grant an upward
adj ust nent based on Meller's and McRae's role in the offense.

C. Downward departure for Duress - Quicksal

Based on an adjusted offense level of 18 and a crimnal
history category of | (and leaving aside the error already
di scussed), Quicksall would have been subject to a sentence of
bet ween 27 and 33 nonths. The district court sentenced Quicksal
to 12 nonths only, departing downward based on its finding that
Quicksall commtted the offense under duress. See § 5K2.12 (the
court may decrease the sentence below the applicable guideline
range if the defendant commts an offense because of serious
coercion, blackmail or duress).

The district court considered Quicksall's age (60), his |ack
of an advanced education (sonme college), and his Ilength of
governnent service in concluding that Quicksall was economcally
and psychol ogically pressured by fear of career loss into foll ow ng
the orders he was given. This is not the type of duress
contenplated by 8§ 5K2.12 of the sentencing guidelines. "The
Comm ssion considered the relevance of economc hardship and

determned that personal financial difficulties and economc
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pressures upon a trade or business do not warrant a decrease in
sentence." § 5K2.12. Nor is the departure justified by the
district court's additional observations concerning Quicksall's
personal characteristics. "One of the primary goals of the
Sentencing Guidelines is to inpose a sentence based on the crine,

not the offender.” United States v. Vela, 927 F.2d 197, 199 (5th

Cr.), cert. denied, 112 S. C. 214 (1991); see, e.9., US S G 8§

5H1.1 (age not ordinarily relevant when determ ning whether
sentence shoul d be outside applicable range). The record does not
support a downward departure on the basis of duress. On renmand,
Qui cksal | should be resentenced without resort to 8§ 5K2.12.

There is anple support in the record, however, for the
district court's additional observations that Quicksall, for a
variety of reasons, was plainly anong the |east cul pable of those
involved in the conspiracy. That fact would support a 4 |evel
downward departure on the basis that Quicksall was a mninal
participant. See U S.S.G 8§ 3Bl1.2(a) & comment. 1; Gadison, 8 F.3d
at 197. (Quicksall clearly had an i nadequate understandi ng of the
contracts-for-politics schene, as conpared to his superiors at TDA
and TFI S and political consultants Boyd and Koontz. As recognized
by the district court, Quicksall's inability to grasp the finer
points of the conspiracy was probably the reason he was sel ected
for the role he played. A defendant's |ack of understanding or
know edge about the scope and structure of the crimnal enterprise
is indicative of a mnor or mnimal role in the offense. U S. S G

8§ 3B1.2 comment. 1. United States v. LaValley, 999 F. 2d 663, 665

23



(2d Cr. 1993). Quicksall filed tinely objections to the PSR s
failure to adjust the base offense level on the basis that he
played a mnimal role in the offense.

Qui cksall nust be resentenced w thout any departure for
duress. Quicksall may, however, be entitled to either an adjust-
ment of his offense level, or a departure from the applicable
gui deline range for other reasons, once the correct base offense
level is determ ned. The district court is encouraged to
reconsider the applicability of US S G § 3B1.2 and U S.S.G 8§
3E1. 1, and to nmake express findings of fact on those issues when
resentenci ng Quicksall.

CONCLUSI ON

There was sufficient evidence to support the jury's verdict.
The district court did not commt reversible error by admtting
certain evidence challenged as extrinsic to the offense or by
overruling the defendants' Batson challenge to the prosecution's
exercise of perenptory strikes. The defendants' convictions are
AFFI RVED.

The district court erred by creating a "conprom se" base
of fense level not specified in the guidelines. Mor eover, the
district court's downward departure as to Quicksall on the basis of
duress i s not supported by the record. The sentence i nposed by the
district court as to all three defendants is VACATED and the case

is REMANDED to the district court for resentencing.
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